# **TOWN OF DRUMHELLER**



# PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT

**PROJECT:** 

PROJECT NAME

RFP # ##-YYY-DIS

DATE: [SELECT DATE]

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1.	GENERAL PURPOSE STATEMENT	1
2.	SERVICES	1
3.	CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	2
4.	TERM	2
5.	PAYMENT	3
6.	CONSULTANT OBLIGATIONS	3
7.	TOWN OBLIGATIONS	5
8.	SUBCONSULTANTS	5
9.	INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR	5
10.	DEFAULT BY THE CONSULTANT	б
11.	Default by Town	6
12.	Termination of Contract	7
13.	INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE	7
14	RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES	8
15	CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION	9
16	OWNERSHIP OF WORK	10
17	RETURN OF PROPERTY	11
18	NOTICE	11
19	NO HIRE	12
20	GENERAL	12
SCH	EDULE "A"	14
SCH	FDIJI F "R"	15

THIS CONTRACT ("Contract") made the [day] day of [month], 20[year].

#### **TOWN OF DRUMHELLER**

(hereinafter referred to as the "Town")

- and -

#### "CONSULTANT LEGAL NAME"

(hereinafter referred to as the "Consultant")

WHEREAS the Consultant is in the business of providing consulting services of the following kind:

# **Professional Engineering Services**

**BETWEEN:** 

**AND WHEREAS** the Town wishes to retain the Consultant to perform certain services for the Town as more particularly outlined in the Town's Request for Proposal (RFP # ##-YYY-DIS) to carry out work generally described as:

# INSERT PROJECT NAME

(hereinafter referred to as the "Project")

**NOW THEREFORE**, in consideration of the promises, mutual terms, covenants and conditions contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

# 1. GENERAL PURPOSE STATEMENT

1.1 The intent of this Contract is to clarify the requirements of the Consultant to provide professional services to the Town and does not include any construction agreement between the Town and a contractor, even if these agreements have commonalities or overlaps.

# 2. SERVICES

2.1 The Consultant shall provide the Services as described in the Consultant's Proposal dated INSERT DATE (the "Proposal") submitted in reply to the RFP and such other services necessarily included by implication (hereinafter referred to as the "Services").

- 2.2 The Town and the Consultant, by agreement in writing, may from time to time alter, add to or deduct from the scope of the Services. In such case the time for completion shall be adjusted accordingly.
- 2.3 The Consultant, during the time of this Contract, shall exercise the degree of care, skill and diligence normally provided by a qualified professional consultant in the performance of services of a similar nature to the Services required under this Contract, and shall ensure that the Services are carried out in a professional and businesslike manner.
- 2.4 No payment shall be made to the Consultant as compensation for damages for any delays or hindrances resulting from the Services or scheduling of the work necessary in order to perform the Services unless otherwise specified within this Contract.
- 2.5 The Consultant shall have complete control of the Services and shall effectively direct and supervise the Services in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Contract.
- 2.6 The Consultant shall comply with all reasonable requirements established by the appointed Town representative for the Project or their designate (hereinafter called the "Project Manager") for the performance of the Services.
- 2.7 The Consultant represents and warrants that if and to the extent that this Contract is the result of any verbal or written presentations, proposals or negotiations to or with the Town (the "Presentations"); (i) all statements and representations of fact made by the Consultant in, or during the course of, the Presentations were true and accurate; (ii) all opinions expressed by the Consultant therein or in the course thereof were genuinely held; and (iii) there were, in or in respect of the Presentations, no omissions, misstatements or understatements of any material facts or matters which if known to the Town might reasonably be expected to have materially influenced the decision of the Town to enter into this Contract upon the within terms or at all. The Consultant acknowledges that in entering into this Contract and in the Consultant's performance thereof, the Town was and is necessarily reliant upon the good faith of the Consultant and agrees that a duty of good faith on the part of the Consultant is owed to the Town.
- 2.8 The Consultant shall immediately disclose to the Town any information which may place the Consultant in a conflict of interest with its obligations to the Town under this Contract, or which may create a reasonable perception of such a conflict of interest.

#### 3. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

- 3.1 and the Consultant's Proposal, including project costs, are incorporated by reference and form part of this Contract, as set out in *Schedule "A"*.
- event of a conflict between the terms of this Contract, and the RFP and the Consultant's Proposal, this Contract will prevail.

#### 4. TERM

4.1 Consultant shall commence the Services no later than **DATE** and the Project shall be delivered to the Town by the Consultant in accordance with the time limitation set out in the Proposal for the total price of **\$DOLLAR AMOUNT** (exclusive of Goods and Services Tax) upon performance of the Services to the satisfaction of the Town.

#### 5. PAYMENT

- 5.1 In consideration of the proper performance by the Consultant of the Services pursuant to this Contract, and subject to verification by the Town of the actual Services having been provided by the Consultant, the Town shall pay the Consultant the amount set out in the Consultant's invoice within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt by the Town of an invoice from the Consultant.
- 5.2 Payment for services will be made on a time and material bases to the upset price as noted in Clause 4.1 or as adjusted based on the processes set out within.
- 5.3 The Town shall not under any circumstances be obligated to pay the Consultant any amount exceeding the sum set out in Clause 4.1 unless prior written authorization has been obtained by the Consultant from the Town. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Town shall not be required to make payment for any cost or disbursement incurred by or on behalf of the Consultant for the purpose of rectifying errors or omissions for which, in the reasonable opinion of the Town, the Consultant is responsible.
- 5.4 All amounts payable by the Town to the Consultant for Services hereunder shall be exclusive of any Goods and Services Tax ("GST") payable thereon and the Town shall, in addition to the amounts payable, pay to the Consultant all amounts of GST applicable thereon.
- 5.5 The Consultant shall provide documentation to support any request for payment, including but not limited to, all applicable invoices for materials, time sheets, government remittance records and such other material as the Town, acting reasonably, may require.
- 5.6 Where changes have been made to the scope of the Services in accordance with Clause 3.2, the Town may adjust the Consultant's fee accordingly and reimburse the Consultant for specific expenses incurred by the Consultant in the discharge of its obligations hereunder. Such expenses shall only be paid when approved in writing by the Town prior to expenditure and thereafter supported by proper receipts, invoices or vouchers submitted to the Town within thirty (30) days from the date upon which such expenses are incurred.
- 5.7 If the Town and the Consultant cannot agree to the terms of the adjustment as set out within Clause 5.6, then the dispute may be submitted to arbitration as set out in this Contract. The Consultant shall have no other claim against the Town for any adjustment to the Consultant's fee as a result of any change to the Services, except as set out within Clause 5.6.

#### 6. CONSULTANT OBLIGATIONS

6.1 In carrying out its obligations hereunder, the Consultant shall be bound by and observe all applicable federal, provincial and municipal legislation and related regulations, which, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall comply with the provisions of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*, 2017, Chapter 0-2.1 and amendments thereto and Regulations thereunder or any successive legislation, and shall at all times ensure that all the Consultant's employees comply with the requirements of the said Act and regulations thereunder. The Consultant shall be the general representative and agent to the Town for the purposes of general compliance with safety regulations for its own employees. The Consultant shall bring to the attention of its own employees the provisions of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* and Regulations thereunder. The Consultant acknowledges that it is an "employer" as defined in the Alberta *Occupational Health* 

and Safety Act, and that without limiting any other duties arising in relation to the Consultant under such legislation, the Consultant agrees that it shall have the duties of a "prime contractor" as defined in such legislation. Notwithstanding Section 6.1 the Consultant shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for operations, maintenance or construction, means, methods, techniques, sequences, procedures, or for safety precautions or programs in connection with the operations, maintenance or construction, or for the acts or omissions of the Town, Town's contractors, other subcontractors other subcontractors of other contractors, or any other persons performing any operations, maintenance or construction.

- 6.2 At all times during the term of this Contract, the Consultant shall be and remain in good standing pursuant to the *Workers' Compensation Act*, 2000, Chapter W-15 and shall ensure that all coverage required for the Consultant and its employees are in place.
- 6.3 The Consultant shall, upon the request of the Town and at any time during the term of this Contract, provide evidence of compliance with the provisions of the *Workers' Compensation Act* in the form of a current compliance certificate issued by the Workers' Compensation Board for Alberta.
- 6.4 At all times during the term of this contract, the Consultant shall be a holder of a Certificate of Recognition (COR) through the Alberta Construction Safety Association (ACSA).
- 6.5 The Consultant shall be responsible for the payment of all income tax, Canada Pension, employment insurance and all other required payments, contributions or deductions that arise or may hereafter arise with respect to the Services performed by the Consultant under this Contract.
- 6.6 The Consultant hereby represents and warrants to the Town that it will provide qualified employees to provide the Services required under this Contract. The Consultant will provide a representative for the management and administration of the Services required by this Contract. Unless otherwise permitted by the Town in writing, the Consultant agrees that it shall provide the services of the individual(s) set out in **Schedule "B"** to this Contract in performing the Services.
- 6.7 The Consultant shall be responsible for all fees, licenses, permits, filings, and all other costs incidental to the performance of the Consultant's obligations under this Contract. Where in order to provide the Services, the Consultant or its employees, agents or subconsultants are required to be registered with a professional regulatory body in Alberta or Canada, the Consultant shall ensure that all such registration remain in place and in good standing during the Term; the Consultant shall forthwith advise the Town where such registrations are not in place or are not in good standing.
- 6.8 The Consultant hereby represents and warrants to the Town, and acknowledges that the Town is relying upon such representation and warranty, that the Consultant is in compliance with all laws and regulations of any public authority relating to the conduct of its business and has all required approvals, permits, licenses, certificates and authorizations necessary to carry on its business and to carry out its obligations hereunder and there are not any proceedings whatsoever, actual or pending, and whether concerning cancellation, extension or otherwise, relating to the said approvals, permits, licenses, certificates or authorizations.

- 6.9 The Consultant will report on a regular basis, as required by the Town, on the Services to be provided pursuant to this Contract. The Consultant will make available such information, including data, reports, and documents, as the Town may require from time to time relating to the obligations of the Consultant to allow the Town to evaluate the quality and progress of the Services to be provided under this Contract.
- 6.10 The Consultant shall not, without prior written consent of the Town, assign or in any way transfer its interest in or obligations under this Contract to any other party. The Consultant acknowledges and accepts that the Town has chosen the Consultant to perform the Services based on the reputation of the Consultant and the qualifications of the persons identified in the Proposal, and the consultant therefore agrees that the Town may in its absolute discretion refuse to accept any assignment or transfer of the Consultant's interest in or obligations hereunder, even if such refusal may be construed to be arbitrary or unreasonable.
- 6.11 The Consultant has no authority to assume or create any obligation whatsoever, expressed or implied, on behalf of or in the name of the Town, nor to bind the Town in any manner whatsoever.
- 6.12 Any deficiencies in the Services shall be rectified promptly and entirely at the Consultant's expense.

#### 7. TOWN OBLIGATIONS

7.1 The Town shall furnish to the Consultant such information in its possession reasonably required for the proper performance of the obligations of the Consultant and shall provide reasonable cooperation in order for the Consultant to be able to perform the Services required pursuant to this Contract in a satisfactory manner. Nothing in this article shall relieve the Consultant of its duties as set out in this Contract.

# 8. SUBCONSULTANTS

- 8.1 The Consultant may, upon first obtaining the written approval of the Town, retain the services of one or more Subconsultants as may be required to perform the Services. The consultant shall obtain the approval of the Town before changing any Subconsultant. The Town's approval may be subject to such terms and conditions as the Town determines.
- 8.2 The Consultant shall remain fully responsible for the performance of the Services even if the Subconsultant retained are approved pursuant to Clause 8.1 by the Town.
- 8.3 The Consultant shall take all necessary measures to bind all Subconsultants to the terms of this Contract.

#### 9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

- 9.1 Nothing in this Contract shall be construed as:
  - (a) constituting either party as the agent, employer or representative of the other party;
  - (b) creating a partnership; or
  - (c) imposing upon either party any partnership duty, obligation or liability to the other party.

The relationship created by this Contract between the Town and the Consultant is that of independent contractor.

#### 10. DEFAULT BY THE CONSULTANT

- 10.1 Where the Town determines that the Consultant is in default of its obligations as set out in this Contract, the Town shall, by written Notice of Default, require the Consultant to remedy such default, at the Consultant's sole expense, within forty-eight (48) hours of the delivery of the Notice of Default to the Consultant. The Consultant shall be in compliance with the Town's instructions if:
  - (a) the Consultant corrects the default within the time specified in the Notice of Default; or
  - (b) if the default cannot be corrected within the time specified in the Notice of Default, the Consultant commences the correction of the default within the time specified in the Notice of Default; and
    - (ii) the Consultant provides a schedule to correct default acceptable to the Town; and
    - (iii) the Consultant corrects the default within the time set out in the schedule agreed to by the Town.
- 10.2 In the event that the default is not corrected in accordance with Clause 10.1, or in the event of urgent circumstances where the giving of a written Notice of Default is impossible, or impracticable, as may be determined by the Town in its sole and unfettered discretion, or where the default of the Consultant is a material default making the continuance of the contractual relationship impossible, impractical or inadvisable for the Town, the Town may, without prejudice to any other right that the Town has pursuant to this Contract, or at law;
  - (a) terminate the Consultant's right to continue with the provision of the Services of this Contract, in whole or in part; or
  - (b) terminate the Contract forthwith; or
  - (c) correct the default at the Consultant's expense and deduct the cost of same from any amount of monies that may be, or become, due and owing to the Consultant, or
  - (d) complete the Services or allow another independent consultant to provide the uncompleted portion of the Services if results are not satisfactory to the Town or in the event that the schedule for the performance of the Services is not being met by the Consultant.

The sum of all damages, expenses, fees, costs, including but not limited to solicitor and client legal costs, incurred or suffered by the Town as a result of the Consultant's failure to correct the default, or the termination of the Consultant's right to continue with the provision of the Services of this Contract, in whole or in part, or the termination of the Contract forthwith, shall be a debt immediately due and owing by the Consultant to the Town which debt may be offset by the Town against any monies payable to the Consultant pursuant to this Contract or any other monies payable by the Town to the Consultant. The exercise by the Town of the rights pursuant to this clause shall not limit any other remedy the Town may have pursuant to this Contract or at law.

# 11. DEFAULT BY TOWN

11.1 If the Town is shown to be in default in the performance of any of the Town's material obligations set forth in this Agreement, including payment of the Consultant's fee as required herein, then the consultant may, by written notice to the Town, require such default be corrected. If, within 30 days after receipt of such notice, such default has not been corrected, the Consultant may, without limiting any other right or remedy they may have, immediately terminate this Agreement. In such an event, the Consultant shall not be liable for delay or damages as a result of the suspension or termination and the Town shall pay the Consultant for

all Services performed and for all disbursements incurred by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement.

#### 12. TERMINATION OF CONTRACT

- 12.2 This Contract may be terminated for convenience by the Town at any time by giving seven (7) days written notice hand delivered to the address given in Clause 14.1 (or as changed pursuant to Clause 14.1) of termination for convenience to the Consultant. The effective date of the termination for convenience shall be set out in the Notice of Termination for Convenience. The Consultant's right to consideration shall be limited to payment for Services provided and not previously paid for up to the effective date as set out in the Notice of Termination for Convenience. The Consultant specifically agrees that the Notice of Termination for Convenience and consideration set forth in this clause constitutes reasonable, fair and equitable notice and compensation for damages, if any, which may be suffered by the Consultant as a result of the termination for convenience of this Contract. In the event this Contract is terminated for convenience, the Consultant shall provide the Services required by this Contract up to and including the effective date set out in the Notice of Termination for Convenience and shall, upon request, provide the Town with a written report on the Services rendered to the time of termination for convenience. Except for any such report, the Consultant shall not provide any further Services subsequent to the effective date set out in the Notice of Termination for Convenience.
- 12.3 The Consultant shall, upon termination, forthwith deliver to the Town a reproducible copy of all materials used by the Consultant or prepared by the Consultant in relation to this Project.

# 13. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

- 13.1 The Consultant shall indemnify the Town, its elected council, officers and employees from and against all liabilities, losses, injuries, costs, damages, legal fees (on a solicitor and his own client full indemnity basis), disbursements, expenses, claims, demands and proceedings lawfully brought or made by any person against the Town, its directors, officers and employees may sustain, pay or incur or which may be brought or made against all or any of them, and incurred in connection with the Services and claims or demands relating to, resulting from or arising out of all or any of the following:
  - the negligent act or omission, of the Consultant and/or any of those persons for whom the Consultant is responsible at law (including, without limitation, any of its employees or Subconsultants);
  - (b) any breach, violation or non-performance of any representation, warranty, obligation, covenant, condition, term or agreement in this Contract set forth and required on the part of the Consultant to be fulfilled, kept, observed or performed, as the case may be; or
  - (c) any damages to third parties caused by, resulting at any time from or arising out of any negligent act or omission, of the Consultant, breach of contract by the Consultant, and/or any of those persons for whom the Consultant is responsible at law (including, without limitation, any of its employees or Subconsultants).

- 13.2 These provisions are in addition to and shall not prejudice any other rights of the parties at law or in equity. These provisions shall survive the termination or expiry of this Contract for any reason whatsoever.
- 13.3 No Consequential Damages; The Liability of each party with respect to a claim from the other arising under or in connection with this Contract, whether in contract, tort (including negligence) or any other legal theory, is limited to direct losses and damages only and neither party will have any liability whatsoever for consequential damages (such as, but not limited to, claims for loss of profit, revenue, production, business, contracts, or opportunity and increased costs of capital, funding or overhead) incurred by the other part.
- 13.4 Without in any way limiting the liability of the Consultant under this Contract, the Consultant shall obtain and maintain in force, with insurers licensed in the Province of Alberta, at the Consultant's own expense, during the existence of this Contract, or any extension thereof, and shall provide evidence of the existence of same to the Town prior to commencing any of the Services the following insurance:
  - 13.4.1 Comprehensive General Liability Insurance in respect to the Services and operations of the Consultant for bodily injury and / or property damage with policy limits of not less than Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000.00) per occurrence. Such insurance shall name the Town as an additional insured, shall be primary and non-contributory to any other insurance available to the Town, and contain a waiver of subrogation provision in favour of the Town. Policy to be confirmed by the Town of DRUMHELLER Insurer.
  - 13.4.2 Professional Liability Insurance in respect to the Services with policy limits of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) per claim.
- 13.5 The aforementioned insurance shall be in a form and with insurers acceptable to the Town's Insurance Broker. Certificates of Insurance shall be provided to the Town by the Consultant or the Consultant's broker prior to commencement of work, and evidence of renewal shall be provided to the Town not less than thirty (30) days prior to the expiry dates of the policies. The Consultant shall be liable for the cost of all of the insurance and bonding required to be held by the Consultant as set forth herein and for payment of all deductible amounts from the policies of insurance.

#### **14 RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES**

- 14.1 The parties agree all reasonable efforts shall be made to resolve all disputes under this Contract by negotiation and agree to provide, without prejudice, open and timely disclosure of relevant facts, information and documents to facilitate these negotiations. The parties agree that any dispute not resolved through negotiation shall be submitted for arbitration in accordance with the provisions of this Contract.
- 14.2 In the event that the parties are unable to resolve a dispute, through negotiation, as to the interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation of this Contract or any of the provisions hereof, such dispute shall be determined by arbitration in accordance with the following terms and conditions:
  - 14.2.1 The party desiring to refer a dispute for arbitration shall notify the other party in writing of the details of the nature and extent of the dispute and the desire of the notifying party to refer the matter to arbitration. Thereafter the following steps shall apply.

- 14.2.2 Within seven (7) days of receipt of such notice, the receiving party shall, by written notice, advise the party requesting the arbitration of its position with respect to all matters set forth in the initial notice. The receiving party's notice may admit responsibility and propose remedial action, for some or all of the matters raised in the initial notice, and the receiving party shall then forthwith undertake such remedial action.
- 14.2.3 The terms of reference for arbitration shall be those areas of dispute referred to in the initial notice in respect of which the receiving party has not admitted responsibility or taken remedial action.
- 14.2.4 The Town and the Consultant shall, within seven (7) days of the establishment of the terms of reference, each appoint an arbitrator and the two arbitrators shall, within seven (7) days of their appointment, appoint a third member to the Arbitration Committee to be known as the Chairman.
- 14.2.5 If the two arbitrators fail to appoint a Chairman within the time period hereinbefore limited for that purpose, then both parties or either of them may apply to a Justice of the Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta to have the Chairman appointed.
- 14.2.6 If either party fails to appoint an arbitrator within the seven (7) day period as outlined herein, then the arbitrator appointed by the one party shall be deemed to be the Arbitration Committee and the decision of that Arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties hereto.
- 14.2.7 Within thirty (30) days of the establishment of the Arbitration Committee, or such further period as may be agreed upon by the parties, the Arbitration Committee shall resolve all matter in dispute in accordance with the terms of reference.
- 14.2.8 The decision of the majority of the Arbitration Committee shall be the decision of the Committee. If no majority decision is reached, the decision of the Chairman shall be the decision of the Committee.
- 14.2.9 The decision of the majority of the Arbitration Committee shall be final and binding upon the parties.
- 14.2.10 The costs of the Arbitration Committee shall be borne by each party as specified by the Arbitration Committee.
- 14.2.11 Except as hereby modified, the provision of the *Arbitration Act*, 2000, Chapter A-43, as amended (or any successor legislation thereto) shall apply to the arbitration procedure.
- 14.3 Unless instructed otherwise in writing by the Town, the Consultant shall continue to carry out the Services during any arbitration proceedings.

# 15 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

15.1 The Consultant acknowledges that, during the term of this Contract, the Consultant may be exposed to information that the Town considers to be proprietary or confidential ("Confidential Information"). Confidential Information shall include, but shall not be limited to, any government, municipal council, business, technical, marketing, financial or other information, whether in electronic, visual, oral or written form, and all memoranda, summaries, notes, analyses, compilations, studies or other records prepared by the Consultant that contain, are based on, or

reflect any such information. The Consultant shall not use such Confidential Information except in the normal course of performing the Services and shall not disclose to others any Confidential Information of the Town unless the Consultant has the prior written authorization of the Town. The Consultant shall, where the Town has approved the use of a Subconsultant, ensure that any sub-contract documents contain confidentiality provisions that are at least as restrictive as those set out in this Contract, and that such sub-contract be executed prior to the disclosure of any Confidential Information. Consultant shall be liable for any unauthorized disclosure of any Confidential Information by any Subconsultant. The Consultant's obligation of confidentiality shall continue following the termination of this Contract.

- 15.2 The Consultant acknowledges that the Town is subject to the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, 2000, Chapter F-25. Records compiled or created under this Contract may be subject to disclosure in accordance with the provisions of such legislation or other laws. The Consultant also acknowledges that information and records compiled or created under this Contract, which are in the custody of the Consultant, are also subject to the *Act*. If the Town receives a request for information under the Act, which includes information provided by the Consultant, the Town may give the Consultant notice of such request where required by law and the Consultant will respond to such notice in accordance with the *Act*. If the Town's response to a request under the *Act* is appealed to the Office of the Information and Privacy Commissioner, the Consultant shall be responsible for the burden of proof as to exception from disclosure as defined under the *Act*.
- 15.3 The Consultant shall be responsible for all costs related to confidentiality requirements. As applicable, for Town records and information under its care, the Consultant shall bear the burden and associated costs of records management practices required under the Act. As well, the Consultant shall be responsible to provide for the protection of confidential Town records and information as required by the Act.
- 15.4 The Consultant shall employ such data storage and data protection methods as are required in order to protect the Town's Confidential Information and other data supplied by the Town as are consistent with industry best practice, and that are in any even equal to or greater than those data storage and data protection methods utilized by the Town at the time that this Contract is executed. The Consultant shall not, without prior written consent of the Town, store any Confidential Information outside of Alberta in either electronic or paper form.

# **16 OWNERSHIP OF WORK**

- 16.1 The Consultant agrees that the Town shall be the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title and interest in and to all Work Product. To the extent, if any, that the Consultant has any rights in any Work Product, the Consultant hereby irrevocably assigns to the Town, all right, title and interest in and to such Work Product. Any moral rights in the Work Product are hereby waived in favour of the Town.
- 16.2 For the purposes of this Contract, "Work Product" means all work product created by the Consultant or Subconsultants in connection with the performance of the Services, including but not limited to all deliverables, documentation, reports, designs, data, drawings and all other works products created by the Consultant or Subconsultant for delivery to Company in providing Services, but does not include draft materials or the Consultant's file contents.
- 16.3 The Consultant warrants that all its personnel and Subcontractors have by written agreement waived and assigned any and all rights or claims they may have to all Work Product and the

Consultant agrees to indemnify the Town from and against any liability, claim, damage, cost or expense (including reasonable legal fees) arising from or relating to any and all such rights or claims.

16.4 The Consultant represents and warrants to the Town that neither the Work Product nor the Town's use of the Work Product will infringe or misappropriate the patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret or other intellectual property rights of any third party. This non-infringement warranty shall not apply to the extent that an infringement claim arises as a result of the Town's use of the Work Product in combination with other products or systems which could not be reasonably anticipated.

# 17 RETURN OF PROPERTY

- 17.1 Upon the termination of this Contract or at any time before the termination of this Contract when requested by the Town, the Consultant shall immediately deliver to the Town all Confidential Information and Town property and equipment.
- 17.2 Consultant agrees that it shall, upon request of the Town, execute or cause an authorized officer of the Consultant to execute a statutory declaration confirming that the Consultant (and any Subconsultant) and its employees have complied with the obligations in relation to Confidential Information and Return of Property.

# **18 NOTICE**

18.1 For the purposes of this Contract, the addresses of the parties are:

#### **Town of Drumheller**

702 Premier Way

Drumheller, Alberta TOJ 0Y4

Attention: Kelcie Wilson C.E.T.

Capital Project Manager

Cell: 403.334.0425

kwilson@drumheller.ca

AND

Consultant Ltd.

ADDRESS LINE 1
ADDRESS LINE 2

**Attention:** Consultant contact

**Contact Title** 

**Contact Phone Number** 

Email:

Any communication notice or service of documents required to be made during the course of this Contract will be good and sufficient if delivered to, or posted by prepaid registered mail addressed to, the above addresses. Notice given in any such manner shall be deemed to have been received by the party on the day of delivery or upon the 3<sup>rd</sup> day after the date of mailing provided that normal postal service is in existence at the time of mailing and for three (3) days thereafter. Any party may change its address for service from time to time upon written notice to that effect. In the event of disruption of normal postal work, any party giving notice hereunder shall be required to deliver the same.

# 19 NO HIRE

19.1 For the term of this Contract and for a period on 12 months after the termination or expiration of this Contract, the Consultant shall not directly or indirectly (a) induce any employee or independent contractor of the Town or its contractors to leave the employment or service of the Town or (b) induce any employee or independent contractor of the Town to take up employment or service with any other person while such employee or independent contractor is in the employment or service of the Town or for a period of twelve (12) months thereafter..

# 20 GENERAL

- 20.1 The parties acknowledge and agree that the provisions of this Contract, which, by their context, are meant to survive the termination of this Contract, shall survive the termination or expiration of this Contract and shall not be merged therein or therewith.
- 20.2 No consent or waiver, express or implied, by either party to or of any breach or default by the other party in the performance by the other party of its obligations hereunder shall be deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver to or of any other breach or default in the performance of obligations hereunder by such party hereunder. Failure on the part of either party to complain of any act or failure to act of the other party or to declare the other party in default, irrespective of how long such failure continues, shall not constitute a waiver by such party of its rights hereunder.
- 20.3 The laws of the Province of Alberta shall govern the interpretation of this Contract and the jurisdiction for any proceeding relating to any matters hereunder shall be Alberta.
- 20.4 The obligations of the Consultant performed pursuant to this Contract shall only be performed by the Consultant or an employee or a party acting on behalf of the Consultant who has been approved in advance in writing by the Town, such approval which may be arbitrarily withheld and which may be terminated or revoked at any time in the discretion of the Town.
- 20.5 This Contract and its Schedules constitutes the entire Contract between the parties hereto and the parties acknowledge and agree that there are no covenants, representations, warranties, contracts or conditions expressed or implied, collateral or otherwise forming part of or in any way affecting or relating to this Contract save as expressly set out in this Contract.

- 20.6 This Contract may not be altered or amended in any of its provisions, except where any such changes are reduced to writing and executed by the parties.
- 20.7 This Contract shall ensure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties herein and their respective heirs, successors and assigns.
- 20.8 Time is of the essence in this Contract, and if either party shall fail to perform the covenants on its part to be performed at fixed times or alternatively within a reasonable time for the performance thereof under the terms of this Contract, the other party may elect to terminate this Contract.
- 20.9 If any term, covenant or condition of this Contract or the application thereof to any party or circumstances shall be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Contract or application of such term, covenant or condition to a party or circumstance other than those to which it is held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby and each remaining term, covenant or condition of this Contract shall be valid and shall be enforceable to the fullest permitted by law.
- 20.10 This Contract may be executed and delivered in any number of counterparts, by a facsimile copy, by electronic or digital signature or by any other written acknowledgment of consent and agreement to be legally bound by its terms as set forth herein. Each counterpart when executed and delivered will be considered an original with all counterparts taken together constitute one and the same instrument.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF** the parties have executed this Contract as of the date first above written.

TOWN	OF DRUMHELLER
 Repres	entative #1
 Repres	sentative #2
INSER	NAME OF CONSULTING COMPAI
Repres	entative #1
Renres	sentative #2

# **SCHEDULE "A"**

Consultant's Proposal for:

PROJECT TITLE

RFP # ##-YYY-DIS

# **SCHEDULE "B"**

Consultant Project Team: